IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGENTAEFiled: Nov 22 2022 Docket No. 22-765 03:01PM EST Transaction ID 68422766

MONONGALIA COUNTY COMMISSION, MONONGALIA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, SHERIFF PERRY PALMER, in his official capacity as Sheriff of Monongalia County, and JOHN DOE, Petitioners (Defendants),

v.

AMANDA F. STEWART, individually and/or in her capacity as Administratrix of the Estate of John D. Stewart, Jr.,
Respondents (Plaintiffs).

(On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia, Civil Action No. 21-C-101)

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Tiffany R. Durst
West Virginia State Bar Id. 7441
Nathaniel D. Griffith
West Virginia State Bar Id. 11362

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss Count I of the Amended Complaint as West Virginia law does not provide a private right of action for monetary damages for a violation of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution pursuant to *Fields v. Mellinger*, 244 W. Va. 126, 851 S.E.2d 789 (2020).
- B. The Circuit Court erred in failing to dismiss Count III of the Amended Complaint as the Monongalia County Commission is immune from suit for claims arising from the method of providing police protection pursuant to W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5) and *Albert v. City of Wheeling*, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016).
- C. The Circuit Court erred in refusing to dismiss Count II of Respondent's Amended Complaint as Deputy Coe is immune from suit pursuant to W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(b) because the Amended Complaint lacks sufficient factual allegations to establish that Deputy Coe acted with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner.
- D. The Circuit Court erred in failing to dismiss Respondent's Amended Complaint in its entirety as Petitioners are protected by qualified immunity.
- E. The Circuit Court erred in failing to dismiss Respondent's claim for punitive damages as Petitioners are immune from such a claim pursuant to W. Va. Code § 29-12a-7(a).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Allegations of the Original Complaint

Plaintiff below and Respondent herein, Amanda F. Stewart, individually and/or in her capacity as Administratrix of the Estate of John D. Stewart, Jr. (hereinafter respectively "Plaintiff" and "Decedent"), filed her original *Complaint for Wrongful Death* (hereinafter "Complaint") on April 2, 2021. JA0003-JA0018. Therein, Plaintiff asserted that the Decedent was purchasing property from his sister, Jessica Stewart, and making monthly payments towards its purchase. JA0006 at ¶ 9. Plaintiff stated that on April 17, 2019, Decedent had a dispute with Jessica Stewart over his "living arrangements" at said property and the "status of his monthly payments." JA0006 at

¹Although the Defendants dispute many of Plaintiff's factual assertions, for purposes of ruling upon a motion to dismiss, the Court is to accept as true all of the factual allegations contained in the Complaint. *John W. Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 W. Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978).

 \P 10. As a result, Jessica Stewart contacted 911 and reported a domestic dispute regarding her and the Decedent. JA0006 at \P 11.

Thereafter, Deputy Jacob Coe (hereinafter "Deputy Coe") arrived at the property in response.² *JA0006 at* ¶ 12. Plaintiff alleged that upon arrival, Jessica Stewart advised Deputy Coe that she had been arguing with the Decedent insofar as he had not been making monthly payments to her for the property and that she wanted to evict him. *JA0006 at* ¶ 13. Deputy Coe instructed Jessica Stewart that she would need to file an eviction proceeding to remove the Decedent from the property. *JA0006 at* ¶ 14. Stewart told Deputy Coe that the Decedent threatened her and showed Deputy Coe a video from her phone evincing their dispute. *JA00006 at* ¶ 16. Plaintiff alleged that Deputy Coe "radioed dispatch and called off any backup insofar as he did not perceive the situation as a criminal matter or a threat, but a civil matter." *JA0007 at* ¶ 17. Deputy Coe further advised Jessica Stewart to take her children and travel with him to the police station to complete mental hygiene petition paperwork on Decedent, to which Jessica Stewart agreed. *JA0007 at* ¶ ¶ 18-19.

The Complaint stated that Jessica Stewart instructed her father, John D. Stewart, Sr., who was also at the scene "to go into the home and speak with [the Decedent]" and Deputy Coe "advised against this." *JA0007 at* ¶ 20. The Complaint asserted the Decedent and his father, John D. Stewart, Sr., "came out of the home arguing and the father came to the area where [Jessica Stewart] and [Deputy Coe] were located." *JA0007 at* ¶ 21. Plaintiff alleged that Deputy Coe "entered his cruise and radioed dispatch" and was advised that the Decedent had an active warrant

² Plaintiff's *Complaint for Wrongful Death* and subsequent *Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death* named "John Doe Deputy" as a Defendant. However, subsequent to the filing of the Complaint, Plaintiff's counsel requested counsel for Defendants accept service of the Summons and Complaint on behalf of Deputy Coe and service was accepted on behalf of Deputy Coe. Accordingly, the above-named counsel also represent Deputy Coe, although the caption of the pending matter has not been amended to reflect Deputy Coe as a named

and "did not inquire into the nature of the alleged warrant." JA0007 at ¶ 22. The Complaint claimed that "[a]t all times material and relevant [the Decedent] did not have a warrant for his arrest." JA0007 at ¶ 23.

The Complaint further alleged that Deputy Coe attempted to arrest or otherwise take the Decedent into custody and the Decedent resisted Deputy Coe. *JA0007-JA0009 at* ¶¶ 24-35. The Decedent began running from Deputy Coe towards his home and the Decedent "reached into his left pocket while looking over his right shoulder stating that he had a knife," which Plaintiff asserts was a "small pocket or utility knife." *JA0009 at* ¶¶ 36-37. Plaintiff alleged that the Decedent was standing on his porch, approximately fifteen (15) to twenty-two (22) feet away and Deputy Coe "asserted that [the Decedent] spun around on his porch and that the [Deputy Coe] believed that [the Decedent] was going to open his pocket and/or utility knife." *JA0009 at* ¶¶ 39-40. Deputy Coe, "while approximately 15 to 20 feet away" then fired upon the Decedent, striking him twice and fatally wounding him. *JA0009 at* ¶ 41. The Amended Complaint generally claimed that Deputy Coe's use of deadly force was not justified under the circumstances. *JA0009-JA0010 at* ¶¶42-44.

Count I of the Complaint asserted "a constitutional tort action under the West Virginia Constitution, pursuant to the common law, and specifically is not filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or any other related federal statute." *JA0010-JA011 at* ¶¶ 46-50. Count I asserted that the actions of Deputy Coe violated the constitutional rights guaranteed to Stewart and/or Plaintiff under Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. *JA0011 at* ¶ 48.

Count II of the Complaint asserted a claim against Deputy Coe for "negligence/wrongful death." *JA0011-JA0012 at ¶¶ 51-54*. Count III of the Complaint alleged

"vicarious liability and/or direct liability" against Defendants, Monongalia County Commission (hereinafter "the Commission"), the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department, and Sheriff Perry Palmer. *JA0012-JA0014 at* ¶¶ 55-62.

Count IV of the Complaint asserted a claim against all Defendants and Petitioners herein for the "tort of outrage," *i.e.* intentional infliction of emotional distress. *JA0014-JA0015 at* ¶¶ 63-69. Count V of the Complaint alleged a claim for "Strict Liability" against Defendants, Monongalia County Commission, the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department, and Sheriff Perry Palmer. *JA0015-JA0016 at* ¶¶ 70-74.

B. Defendants' Motion to Dismiss

Petitioners filed their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint for Wrongful Death and Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint for Wrongful Death (hereinafter collectively "Defendants' Motion to Dismiss"). JA0019-JA0044. Therein, Petitioners argued that Counts I and III of Plaintiff's Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted as West Virginia law does not provide a private right of action for monetary damages for a violation of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. JA0034-JA0035. Petitioners argued that Count II of the Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted as the Complaint lacked sufficient factual allegations to establish that Deputy Coe acted with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner and, therefore, he is immune pursuant to the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code § 29-12A-1, et seq. (hereinafter the "Tort Claims Act"). JA0035-JA0036. Petitioners sought dismissal of Counts III, IV, and V of the Complaint against the Commission based on the immunity provided by W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5) for the method of providing police protection. JA0036-JA0037. Petitioners

also argued that the Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety as Defendants are protected by qualified immunity as the allegations of the Complaint fail to establish that Petitioners violated a clearly established statutory or constitutional right of the Decedent. *JA0038-JA0039*.

Petitioners sought the dismissal of Count IV of the Complaint as Plaintiff's claim for tort of outrage did not survive the Decedent's death. *JA0039-JA0040*. Moreover, Petitioners argued that Count V of the Complaint should be dismissed as "strict liability" is not a claim upon which relief may be granted based on the allegations of the Complaint. *JA0040*. Petitioners further argued that the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department should be dismissed as an improper party pursuant to W. Va. Code § 7-1-1(a). *JA0040-JA0041*. Last, Petitioners argued that Plaintiff's claim for punitive damages failed as a matter of law as Petitioners were immune from said claim. *JA0042*.

C. The Circuit Court's Order from September 21, 2021 Hearing

The Circuit Court held a hearing on Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss on September 21, 2022. On November 8, 2021, the Circuit Court entered its *Order from September 21, 2021 Hearing*. *JA0122-JA0125*. Therein, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss to the extent it sought dismissal of Counts I and III of the Complaint. In doing so, the Circuit Court adopted Respondent's argument that despite there being no private cause of action for violation of private right of action for monetary damages for a violation of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution, Respondent's claims in Counts I and III were permitted under the Wrongful Death Act, \$55-7-1, et seq. JA0122-JA0123.

The Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to the extent that it sought dismissal of Count II of the Complaint against Deputy Coe despite the lack of sufficient factual allegations to establish that Deputy Coe acted with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless

manner so as to defeat his immunity under the Tort Claims Act. Instead, the Circuit Court permitted Respondent to amend the Complaint within thirty (30) days of entry of the Order. *JA0123*.

Regarding Counts III, IV, and V of the Complaint, the Circuit Court purportedly granted Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss, in part, "pursuant to the immunities set forth in W. Va. Code 29-12A-5(a)(5)" but denied Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss "to the extent that it seeks to dismiss any and all claims of vicarious liability." JA0123.

The Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss to the extent that it sought the dismissal of all counts of the Complaint on the basis of qualified immunity, adopting Respondent's argument that the Complaint sufficiently alleged that Petitioners violated a clearly established statutory or constitutional right of Decedent and that any immunity argument presented by the defense is procedurally premature until discovery is provided on the existence and scope of insurance coverage. *JA0123*.

The Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to the extent it sought dismissal of Count IV of the Complaint for tort of outrage as not surviving the death of the Decedent. The Circuit Court found that Respondent's "claim is brought in the [Plaintiff's] individual capacity" and provided the Plaintiff [Respondent] thirty (30) days to amend her Complaint to "clarify her cause of action[.]" *JA0123*.

The Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss seeking to dismiss Respondent's claim for, what it characterized as, "strict, vicarious liability" in Count V and provided Plaintiff [Respondent] thirty (30) days to amend the Complaint "to clarify her cause of action in Count V for vicarious liability." *JA0123-JA0124*. The Circuit Court granted Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss, in part, "to correct a misnomer to the extent that it names the Monongalia County Sheriff's

Department and Sheriff Perry Palmer as party-defendants insofar as the Sheriff's Department and the Monongalia County Commission are the same entities." *JA0124*.

D. Defendant's Appeal of Order from September 21, 2021 Hearing

On December 8, 2021, Defendants filed a *Notice of Appeal* in this matter in relation to the Circuit Court's *Order from September 21, 2021 Hearing*. The Notice of Appeal alleged several errors in the Circuit Court's denial of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint for Wrongful Death.³

E. Allegations of Amended Complaint and Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint

On October 21, 2021, Respondent filed her *Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death* (hereinafter "Amended Complaint"). *JA0106-JA0121*. The Amended Complaint removed Sheriff Perry Palmer as a Defendant. Additionally, the Amended Complaint eliminated the cause of action for "strict liability". For the most part, the Amended Complaint simply restated the allegations of the original Complaint.

Petitioners subsequently filed their *Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death* before the Circuit Court. *JA0172-JA0199*. Therein, Petitioners argued that Count I of Respondent's Amended Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted as West Virginia law does not provide a private right of action for monetary damages for a violation of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. *JA0184-JA0186*. Further, Petitioners asserted that Count II of Respondent's Amended Complaint should be dismissed as the Amended Complaint lacks sufficient factual allegations to establish that Deputy Coe acted with malicious

³The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia entered a Scheduling Order and designated that appeal as

purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner so as to defeat his immunity under the Tort Claims Act. *JA0186-JA0190*. Petitioners argued that Counts III and IV of the Amended Complaint should be dismissed as the Commission is immune from suit under the Tort Claims Act. *JA0190-JA0193* Additionally, Petitioners argued that the Amended Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety as Petitioners are protected by qualified immunity. *JA0193-JA0194*. Petitioners also sought the dismissal of Count IV of the Amended Complaint as Respondent's claim for tort of outrage did not survive the Decedent's death. *JA0194-JA0197*. Last, Petitioners argued that Respondent's claim for punitive damages fails as a matter of law as Petitioners are immune from such a claim. *JA0197-JA0198*.

F. Removal to Federal Court and Subsequent Remand

On February 22, 2022, Respondent filed her Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death. JA0200-JA0261. Based on statements made within Respondent's Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death, Petitioners removed this matter to the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, at Clarksburg, and filed their Notice of Filing of Notice of Removal with this Court on March 1, 2022. JA0262-JA0272.

Petitioners then filed their *Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death* before the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, at Clarksburg on March 8, 2022. On May 17, 2022, the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia entered its *Order Memorializing Ruling at Motion Hearing*, which remanded this matter back to the Circuit Court of Monongalia County.

G. Denial of Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death

On September 7, 2022, the Circuit Court entered its *Order from July 25*, 2022 *Hearing. JA0001-JA0002*. Therein, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint for those reasons previously articulated by the Circuit Court in regard to the Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss the Original Complaint. *JA0001-JA0002*.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners present this appeal respectfully requesting that the Order from July 25, 2022 Hearing from the Circuit Court of Monongalia County be reversed. In Count I of the Amended Complaint, Respondent alleges that Petitioners violated Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution and asserted a "constitutional tort action" seeking to recover monetary damages. However, this Court recently held in *Fields* that "West Virginia does not recognize a private right of action for monetary damages for a violation of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution." Syl. Pt. 3, Fields v. Mellinger, 244 W. Va. 126, 851 S.E.2d 789 (2020). Despite the express prohibition on such a claim in Fields, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss to the extent that it sought to dismiss Count I of the Amended Complaint. The Circuit Court found that "[t]he plaintiff states a claim under the West Virginia Wrongful Death Act, W. Va. Code § 55-7-1, et seq." However, the fact that Respondent's claim was brought pursuant to the Wrongful Death Act does not obviate the clear holding of *Fields*. Fields did not carve out any exception for claims brought pursuant to the Wrongful Death Act. Moreover, the Wrongful Death Act itself makes clear that there must be a viable, underlying claim which could have been maintained if death had not occurred.

Count III of the Amended Complaint asserts a claim against the Commission for vicarious liability for the actions of Deputy Coe. W. Va. Code § 29-12a-5(a)(5) provides that a political subdivision is immune from liability if a claim results from the "failure to provide, or the method of providing, police, law enforcement or fire protection." Pursuant to *Albert*, which dealt with fire protection, the immunity contained in W. Va. Code § 29-12a-5(a)(5) is not limited to the decision making process in developing a political subdivisions policies but rather extends to any loss or claim that results from the failure to provide or the method of providing police or fire protection. The Circuit Court denied Petitioners' Motion in this regard "to the extent that it seeks to dismiss any and all claims of vicarious liability." However, the Circuit Court erred as *Albert* expressly stated that the immunity provided in subsection (a)(5) is applicable even if the loss or claim is caused by the negligence of an employee of the political subdivision acting within the scope of employment.

Count II of the Amended Complaint asserts a claim against Deputy Coe for "negligence/wrongful death." However, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(b), Deputy Coe is immune from suit unless his acts or omissions were manifestly outside the scope of employment or official responsibilities; his acts or omissions were with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner; or liability is expressly imposed upon the employee by a provision of W. Va. Code. The Amended Complaint does not assert that Deputy Coe acted outside the scope of his employment and liability is not imposed by any other provision of W. Va. Code. Therefore, Deputy Coe only loses his immunity if his alleged acts or omissions were with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner. The Circuit Court erred in failing to dismiss Count II of the Amended Complaint as the Amended Complaint lacks sufficient factual assertions to establish that

Deputy Coe's acts or omissions were with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner.

Additionally, the Circuit Court erred in failing to dismiss Respondent's Amended Complaint in its entirety as Petitioners are protected by qualified immunity. When stripped of its conclusory allegations, Amended Complaint fails to establish the violation of a constitutional right that was clearly established at the time of the alleged violation and, therefore, is subject to dismissal. Moreover, Respondent failed to identify a specific constitutional right of Decedent which was violated. Along the same lines, Respondent did not to put forth any legal authority to show that such right was clearly established at the time of the shooting in question.

Last, the Circuit Court erred in failing to dismiss Respondent's claim for punitive damages within the Amended Complaint. W. Va. Code § 29-12A-7(a) prohibits an award of punitive damages against political subdivisions. Additionally, this immunity is extended to employees of political subdivisions named in their official capacities, such as Deputy Coe herein.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

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