IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-765

SCA Filed: Jan 02 2023
10:54PM EST
Transaction ID 68777858

MONONGALIA COUNTY COMMISSION,
MONONGALIA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT,
SHERIFF PERRY PALMER, in his official capacity as Sheriff
Of Monongalia County, and JOHN DOE DEPUTY,

Petitioners,

VS.

AMANDA STEWART, individually and/or in her capacity as
Administratrix of the Estate of John D. Stewart, Jr.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

John R. Angotti, Esquire (W.Va. Bar #5068)
David J. Straface, Esquire (W.Va. Bar #3634)
Chad C. Groome, Esquire (W.Va. Bar #9810)
Angotti & Straface, L.C.
274 Spruce Street
Morgantown, WV 26505

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The instant case stems from an officer-involved shooting due to the decedent's possession of an unopened pen knife – a pen knife that was ultimately found unopened in the decedent's

pocket following his killing. Despite an egregious set of facts underlying the shooting, the Petitioners (and defendants hereinbelow), Monongalia County Commission d/b/a Monongalia County Sheriff's Department and John Doe Deputy, have unsuccessfully attempted multiple times to dismiss this matter on the basis of various claims of immunity at the state, federal, and appellate levels. The most recent attack came against the *Amended Complaint* and resulted in the Circuit Court's September 7, 2022 *Order from July 25, 2022 Hearing*.

The Circuit Court's *Order from July 25, 2022 Hearing* and the *Order from September 21, 2021 Hearing*, from which it flows, are largely correct insofar as they find the Petitioners are not entitled to immunity for Respondent's claims. The Circuit Court correctly held that the Petitioners were not entitled to "qualified immunity" for claims related to Mr. Stewart's killing insofar as the outrageous facts of this case reveal that their conduct was constitutionally unreasonable. See **Maston v. Wagner**, 236 W. Va. 488, 781 S.E.2d 936 (2015). Likewise, the Circuit Court further correctly found that the Respondent's claims for wrongful death were not barred by **Fields v. Mellinger**, 851 S.E.2d 789 (W. Va. 2020), but properly stated a claim for wrongful death. The Circuit Court properly held that Respondent's claims for negligence and/or malicious, willful and/or reckless conduct against Petitioner, John Doe Deputy, were supported by the factual allegations in the *Amended Complaint*.

The Circuit Court's rejection of the Petitioners' argument that Count III of the *Amended Complaint* should be dismissed pursuant to **Albert v. City of Wheeling**, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016) provided a correct interpretation of law. See Syl. Pts. 4-5, **Smith v. Burdette**, 211 W. Va. 477, 481, 566 S.E.2d 614, 618 (2002); Syl. Pt. 4, **Beckley v. Crabtree**, 189 W. Va. 94, 95, 428 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1993); and **Mallamo v. Town of Rivesville**, 197 W. Va. 616, 626, 477 S.E.2d 525, 535 (1996). Moreover, the Circuit Court further correctly found that claims of

punitive damages liability against both Petitioner were properly the subject to further discovery insofar as discovery of the scope of Petitioners' liability insurance had not yet been done and insofar as the conduct of the Petitioner, John Doe Deputy, could divest him of any argument for punitive damages immunity under the *W.Va. Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act*. See W.Va. Code § 29-12A-9(a); Bender v. Glendenning, 219 W. Va. 174, 180, 632 S.E.2d 330, 336 (2006); W.Va. Code § 29-12A-3(a), (d).

While the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia, was ultimately correct when it repeatedly denied the Petitioners' motions to dismiss on the basis of immunity, the Circuit Court did err during this process when it held, in its *Order from September 21, 2021 Hearing*, that a direct liability action could not be maintained against the defendant Commission pursuant to **W.Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5)**. In rendering this decision, the Circuit Court misconstrued the decision of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in Albert v. City of Wheeling, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016), and improperly applied it beyond its narrow application to claims regarding fire protection. In doing so, the Circuit Court ignored the long history of cases where immunity for police protection under **W.Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5)** was limited to only claims concerning policy-making errors. See Syl. Pts. 4-5, Smith v. Burdette, 211 W. Va. 477, 481, 566 S.E.2d 614, 618 (2002); Syl. Pt. 4, Beckley v. Crabtree, 189 W. Va. 94, 95, 428 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1993); and Mallamo v. Town of Rivesville, 197 W. Va. 616, 626, 477 S.E.2d 525, 535 (1996). It is from this ruling that the Respondent asserts a cross-assignment of error.

V. LAW & ARGUMENT

Respondent's Cross-Assignment of Error:

1. **The Circuit Court of Monongalia County erred when it held that the plaintiff could not pursue a claim against the Monongalia County Commission, beyond a claim for vicarious liability, insofar as it found the County to be immune under the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W.Va. Code § 29-12A-**

5(a)(5), pursuant to is misapplication of Albert v. City of Wheeling, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016).

While the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia, was ultimately correct when it repeatedly denied the Petitioners' motion to dismiss on the basis of immunity, the Circuit Court did err during this process when it held that a direct liability action could not be maintained against the defendant Commission. In rendering this decision, the Circuit Court misconstrued the decision of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in **Albert v. City of Wheeling, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016)** as having application beyond mere matters of fire protection. This is an error that should be addressed upon cross-assignment in the instant appeal, pursuant to **W.Va. R. App. P. 10(f)**.

Local police departments and Sheriff's departments that improperly utilize excessive force against members of the public should not be immunized for their conduct. **W.Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5)** states that "(a) A political subdivision is immune from liability if a loss or claim results from:...(5) Civil disobedience, riot, insurrection or rebellion or the failure to provide, or the method of providing, police, law enforcement or fire protection..." The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in **Syl. Pts. 4-5, Smith v. Burdette, 211 W. Va. 477, 481, 566 S.E.2d 614, 618 (2002), overruled in part by Albert v. City of Wheeling, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016)(overruled solely on issues of fire protection)**, interpreted the scope of this immunity as follows: "...the phrase 'the method of providing police, law enforcement or fire protection' contained in *W.Va.Code*, 29-12A-5(a)(5) [1986] refers to the decision-making or the planning process in developing a governmental policy, including how that policy is to be performed. To the extent that the holding of the Court is inconsistent with language in *Beckley v. Crabtree*, 189 W.Va. 94, 428 S.E.2d 317 (1993) and its progeny, the holdings in those cases are hereby modified. Furthermore, *W.Va.Code*, 29-12A-5(a)(5) [1986] does not provide immunity to a political

subdivision for the negligent acts of the political subdivision's employee performing acts in furtherance of a method of providing police, law enforcement or fire protection.”

Pre-Smith, this Court held that “[r]esolution of the issue of whether a loss or claim occurs as a result of “the method of providing police, law enforcement or fire protection’ requires determining whether the allegedly negligent act resulted from the manner in which a formulated policy regarding such protection was implemented.” Syl. Pt. 4, Beckley v. Crabtree, 189 W. Va. 94, 95, 428 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1993), holding modified by Smith v. Burdette, 211 W. Va. 477, 566 S.E.2d 614 (2002). In Beckley, this Court found that a Sheriff’s department was not immune, pursuant to W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5), from a lawsuit filed by a State Trooper who was shot by a Sheriff’s deputy due to the deputy’s discharge of shogun at the scene of an arrest. This Court permitted the Trooper to sue the Sheriff’s Department finding that the scope of immunity set forth in W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5) did not bar the claim insofar as conduct of the Sheriff’s Department and/or its deputy did not regard policy formulation. See Id. at 98, 428 S.E.2d at 321.

As the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia recognized, “Section 29–12A–5(a)(5) is not ‘so broad as to immunize a city on every aspect of negligent police and fire department operations.’ *Smith*, 566 S.E.2d at 617. *Smith* explained that the statute provides immunity to law enforcement entities when claims against them are aimed at basic matters [such] as the type and number of fire trucks and police cars considered necessary for the operation of the respective departments; how many personnel might be required; how many and where police patrol cars are to operate; the placement and supply of fire hydrants; and the selection of equipment options. *Id.* (quoting *Mallamo v. Town of Rivesville*, 197 W.Va. 616, 477 S.E.2d 525, 535 (1996)). The statute simply does not contemplate immunity where a plaintiff sues based on negligent hiring

and supervision of an employee.” Woods v. Town of Danville, W.V., 712 F. Supp. 2d 502, 513–14 (S.D.W. Va. 2010).²

As the Court may see, this Court has clearly found the immunity conferred by **W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5)**, when it comes to policing matters, only to applied to acts and/or omissions of a policy decision-making nature. The reason for this appears to be that the scope of immunity is **subsection 5(a)(5)** is supposed to coextensive with principals of the “public duty” doctrine. This Court has found that the scope of immunity as contained in “...West Virginia Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5) is the codification of the common law ‘public duty doctrine’ as pertains to political subdivisions and is therefore subject to the “special relationship” exception...” Bowden v. Monroe Cnty. Comm'n, 232 W. Va. 47, 52, 750 S.E.2d 263, 268 (2013). Moreover, as this Court held in **Syl. Pt. 8, Randall v. Fairmont City Police Dept.**, 186 W.Va. 336, 412 S.E.2d 737 (1991):

W. Va. Code, 29–12A–5(a)(5) [1986], which provides, in relevant part, that a political subdivision is immune from tort liability for “the failure to provide, or the method of providing, police, law enforcement or fire protection [.]” is coextensive with the common-law rule not recognizing a cause of action for the breach of a general duty to provide, or the method of providing, such protection owed to the public as a whole. Lacking a clear expression to the contrary, that statute incorporates the common-law special duty rule and does not immunize a breach of a special duty to provide, or the method of providing, such protection to a particular individual.

² This Court in Mallamo v. Town of Rivesville, 197 W. Va. 616, 626, 477 S.E.2d 525, 535 (1996) also noted that **subsection 5(a)(5)** immunity was limited to policy-making liability stating, “[i]n the case before us, the evidence reveals that the officers acted pursuant to formulated policy when they unholstered their weapons upon observing a high-powered rifle in a bedroom of plaintiff’s home. However, the discharge of Van Pelt’s weapon was not the result of implementing such policy. Thus, because the injuries plaintiff sustained were not the result of the method of providing police, law enforcement or fire protection, within the meaning of *W. Va. Code*, 29–12A–5(a)(5) [1986], the Town of Rivesville would not have been immune from liability thereunder. Consequently, under *W. Va. Code*, 29–12A–4(c)(2) [1986], *supra*, the Town of Rivesville would have been liable for the negligence, if any, of its employee, Wilson.

For this reason, claims regarding the excessive use of force or the improper use of deadly force against a citizen fall outside of the scope of the statutory immunity expressed by the *West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act* as those claims do not regard the effect of police policy on the general public, but rather regard tortious conduct committed against a particular citizen.

In 2016, however, the issue of the scope of **W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5)** came before this Court again, but only in the context of fire protection matters. See **Albert v. City of Wheeling**, **238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628 (2016)**. The Court in **Albert** was faced with a claim by a plaintiff who alleged that the City of Wheeling Fire Department failed to extinguish a fire at their home due to rocks clogging the fire hose. The **Albert** Court held that the City was immune from those claims pursuant to **W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5)** and overruled **Burdette** only to the extent that its holding applied to claims regarding fire protection. In fact, at **Syllabus Points 4-6**, the Court in **Albert** did not extend its holding to police conduct and expressly limited its holdings to fire protection. It is important to note that the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in **Albert** had the opportunity to overrule **Burdette** in its entirety, but did not do so. In fact, since **Albert**, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals appears yet to have modified the holding in **Burdette** as it applies to police action and improper use of deadly force claims.

Despite the foregoing, the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia, erroneously extended **Albert** to matters of unlawful use of deadly force by the police, despite no expression in that case calling for such and despite there being no decision of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals extending **Albert** in such a manner. Likewise, there is no decision of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals finding that a local or county police force cannot be held responsible

for a wrongful death caused by excessive use of force. By extending Albert to provide such a result, the Court inherently interpreted **W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5)** in a manner that was in contravention to the **W.Va. Constitution** and its protections of the decedent’s rights to life and liberty.

The annals of West Virginia jurisprudence evince that civil actions against local or county police for use of excessive force are proper. See gen., Maston v. Wagner, 236 W. Va. 488, 781 S.E.2d 936 (2015)(no immunity found for state law claims against Tyler County Sheriff’s Department and State Police for excessive use of force). The holding of the Maston Court implies that such claims may be properly made against both State and local law enforcement, as the plaintiff therein properly sued both the State Police and Tyler County Sheriff’s Department despite **W.Va. Code § 29–12A–5(a)(5)**.

As such, the Circuit Court below committed clear error when it found that the County Commission could not be held directly liable pursuant to Albert, but only vicariously liable. A local police department is simply not entitled to be insulated from liability for an unconstitutional and unreasonable use of deadly force. By misconstruing Albert, the Circuit Court inherently held that local and county police forces in West Virginia enjoy an immunity from suit that is not enjoyed by the West Virginia State Police, Division of Natural Resources, Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation, and other law enforcement arms of the State. There is simply no public policy justification for treating State Police any different than local law enforcement.

Responses to the Petitioners’ Assignments of Error:

- 1. The Circuit Court did not err in finding that the Petitioners were not entitled to “qualified immunity” as the actions of the Petitioners in shooting the decedent, John D. Stewart, Jr., due to him having an unopened pen knife in his pocket, were plainly a violation of Mr. Stewart’s clearly-established constitutional rights.**

The Circuit Court did not err in finding that the defense of “qualified immunity” did not apply to the defendants conduct underlying the plaintiff’s use of deadly force claims. The defendants asserted below and in the instant appeal that the plaintiff has not alleged a violation of a clearly established right of which the defendants should have known. However, this is incorrect, as in cases of improper use of force or deadly force, the violation of a clearly established constitutional right may be shown by unreasonable conduct on the part of the defendants. See **Maston v. Wagner**, 236 W. Va. 488, 506–07, 781 S.E.2d 936, 954–55 (2015). The plaintiff’s *Amended Complaint* alleges facts which demonstrate that the conduct of the defendants was constitutionally unreasonable.

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